RECEIVED

Mar 11 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Patrick C. Fant, III, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-000367

The State of South Carolina

Respondent,

v.

Zachary David Hughes

Appellant.

**SUBSTITUTE INITIAL BRIEF OF
APPELLANT ZACHARY DAVID HUGHES**

Respectfully submitted,

s/Andrew B. Moorman, Sr.

s/Mark Moyer

Andrew B. Moorman, Sr. (SC Bar # 69670)

Mark Moyer (SC Bar # 64155)

Moorman Law Firm, LLC

Moyer Law Firm, LLC

12 Whitsett Street

Greenville, South Carolina 29601

(864) 775-5800 (Moorman)

(864) 775-5811 (Moyer)

andy@andymoormanlaw.com

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Did the trial court err when it refused to instruct the jury on the defense of others, when Hughes was prepared to present evidence to the jury on each and every element of the defense of others sufficient to warrant a jury instruction on the defense of others?
2. Did the trial court err when it improperly commented on the facts and evidence by instructing the jury that if one plans or prepares to kill another than one acts with malice for the purpose of Murder?
3. Did the trial court err when it refused to instruct the jury that to prove “malice” for Murder the State had to prove that Hughes acted “without just cause or excuse?”
4. Did the trial court err when it excluded evidence of Bradly Post’s participation in the production and/or distribution of child pornography, even though he “opened the door” to such evidence while testifying on cross-examination pretrial?
5. Did the trial court err when it excluded evidence of Christina Parcell’s participation in the production and/or distribution of child pornography, even though the State “opened the door” to such evidence during Vanessa Kormylo’s direct examination?
6. Did the trial court err when it prevented Hughes from telling the jury why he killed Christina Parcell?
7. Did the trial court err when it held Zachary Hughes in contempt for violating an unlawful order?

8. Did the trial court err when it prevented defense counsel from asking Bradly Post on cross-examination about the nature of his pending charges and the possible penalties he faced if convicted of these charges?
9. Did the trial court err when it admitted State's Exhibit 9 and testimony as to the contents of State's Exhibit 9 in the absence of sufficient evidence establishing a chain of custody in violation of S.C.R.E. 901 and 403?
10. Did the trial court err when it admitted State's Exhibits 94, 95, 96, 97, and 100 and the expert's DNA testimony where the State failed to establish a proper chain of custody as required by S.C.R.E. 901?
11. Did the trial court err when it refused to grant Hughes' motion for a directed verdict on the harassment indictment on the basis that the statute is unconstitutionally vague?
12. Did the trial court err when it denied Hughes' directed verdict motions on the harassment and conspiracy to commit harassment charges because the State presented no evidence that Parcell suffered mental or emotional distress and no evidence of a non-legitimate purpose?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Christina Parcell and her boyfriend/fiancé,' Bradly Post, sexually abused Parcell's young daughter, AM, for years. See *infra*, at p.15. AM was powerless to stop the abuse: the Family Court placed AM with her mother. Her father, John Mello, was in Italy and would be arrested if he reentered the United States. See *infra*, at p. 15. Zachary Hughes, for reasons that will become clearer, knew that Christina Parcell and/or Post were sexually abusing AM, and he killed Parcell to save AM.

Hughes surrendered to police on November 1, 2021, after they located DNA on Parcell's

body that they believed matched his. See *infra.*, at p. 23. Hughes remained in jail without bond for more than three years awaiting trial.

On February 10, 2025, jury selection began, and the trial court heard pretrial motions. Tr., at 2. Hughes' trial began on February 11, 2025, and the State tried Hughes on indictments for murder, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, burglary first degree, harassment,¹ and conspiracy. Tr., at 182. The defense rested on February 20, 2025, and the jury returned verdicts of guilty on murder, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, burglary first degree, harassment second degree, and conspiracy to harass in the second degree on the same day. Tr., at 1159-60.

The Court then immediately sentenced Hughes to life imprisonment on the murder indictment, life imprisonment on the burglary first degree indictment, five years concurrent on the possession of weapon indictment, and 30 days times served on each of the harassment second degree and conspiracy to commit harassment in the second degree indictments, both of which were to run concurrently. Tr., at 1170-71.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS²

Christina Parcell and Bradley Post sexually abused Parcell's young daughter, AM, for years. Tr., at 863-67, and R _____. Parcell and John Mello, though never married, were the parents of AM, who was born in 2012. Mello and Parcell had multiple, bitter custody disputes involving AM, with Mello prevailing into 2021.

¹ In the trial court's opening instructions, it did not specifically tell the jury that the State charged Hughes with Harassment First Degree or Second Degree. It just told the jury that he would be tried on an indictment alleging "harassment." Tr., at 182.

² Due to the number of issues Hughes raises on appeal and the fact-intensive nature of these issues, he will supplement his arguments with especially relevant facts when necessary.

During one of these custody disputes in 2016, Mello's lawyer deposed Parcell. Tr., at 985. R. _____. According to Zachary Hughes' testimony, he learned from the deposition that (1) Parcell was a prostitute,³ offering sexual services in return for money; (2) she was an actress in a pornographic movie; and (3) she used a website with a url of sugardaddyforme.com, wherein women would seek out older men in trade. Tr., at 986. R. ____.

Post, age 65, and Parcell, age 41, were engaged at the time of Parcell's death in October of 2021. Tr., at 651. Post was retired, having sold a business for millions of dollars. Tr., at 141-42. Post and Parcell began dating in 2016, although they had known each other for much longer, Tr., at 142, and the two had an on-again off-again relationship for years. Tr., at 144.

Mello became concerned about AM's safety in the presence of Post when Parcell had visitation with AM. He reported his concerns to the Greenville County Sheriff's Office (GCSO) at the end of 2017/beginning of 2018, and Investigator Dan Bevill was assigned to the case. Tr., at 868. Ultimately, Bevill closed the case without finding any abuse, and he sent email to Mello in March of 2018, notifying him that the case was closed. Tr., at 868-69. The evidence would later show that Bevill made a terrible mistake.

Mello and AM meet Hughes and Mello takes AM to Italy

Hughes, a Juilliard trained concert pianist, met Mello and AM in downtown Greenville in August of 2020 while Hughes was performing on a streetcorner during the Covid pandemic. Tr., at 953. Mello and Hughes struck up a friendship, and Hughes was able to interact with Mello and AM repeatedly in August, September, and into October of 2020.

In October of 2020, AM was on a trip with her mother, and Hughes and Mello went to

³ Defense admitted defense exhibit 56, an affidavit executed by Alex Field, a now-deceased firefighter, who stated under oath that Parcell propositioned him in 2018 for sex in exchange for money. Tr., at 988-89. R. ____.

dinner to celebrate Hughes's birthday. Tr., at 956. What started as a festive evening ended on a somber note. Mello told Hughes he was "terrified about the danger his daughter was in" whenever she was alone with her mother. Tr., at 957. AM returned to Greenville very shortly after Hughes's birthday, and Mello took AM to Italy, in large part to protect her from her mother and Post, even though his action violated a court order. Tr., at 958.

Parcell travels to Italy and secures AM's return to her and Post,
and Hughes tries to save AM

Shortly after Mello and AM left for Italy, Parcell began traveling to Italy, obtained a lawyer, and petitioned the Italian courts to order that AM be returned to the United States. Tr., at 396-99. During this period, Parcell relied largely on Post for her living expenses and for the costs associated with her litigation with Mello: Post gave Parcell credit cards, he was paying credit card bills for Parcell, he allowed her to drive his car, he paid for her family court lawyer in the United States, and he paid for some of her expenses associated with her court battles in Italy. Tr., at 147-48, 153-54. Ultimately, the Italian courts granted Parcell's petition, and she and AM returned to Post and to the United States in April of 2021. Tr., at 420.

Mello began contacting Hughes from Italy in April of 2021, worried that Post and Parcell would continue to victimize AM. Mello shared with Hughes information that caused him to be concerned for AM's safety. Based on Mello's recitation of the facts and Parcell's personality traits, which dovetailed perfectly with Hughes's sociopathic Russian sister, based on documentary evidence Mello provided Hughes that demonstrated Parcell was a prostitute and relied on Post financially, and based on Hughes's personal observations of AM, he became convinced that Parcell and/or Post were sexually abusing AM. Tr., at 997-98.

Once convinced of the danger to AM, Hughes tried to save her. He sent mailers to Parcell's neighbors and Post's acquaintances that contained sexually explicit online escort ads

depicting Parcell, Tr., at 1000-01; he executed an affidavit alleging that AM should live her with father, which he gave to Mello's lawyer to be submitted to the family court, tr., at 1003-04; and he called DSS ("Child Protective Services") and reported that Parcell was abusing AM, tr., at 1004. Despite all of his attempts to save AM, nothing worked.

On October 13, 2021, with Mello stranded in Italy and subject to arrest upon his return to the United States, tr., at 567, with all of his attempts to save AM having failed, and with AM living with her abuser, her own mother, Hughes did what he believed he had to do to save AM: he took Parcell's life.

Q: And ultimately, did you take Christina Parcell's life on October 13th?

A: Yes. Because I believed it was absolutely necessary to save (AM). And I was right.

Tr., at 1015. (Emphasis added).

On October 19, 2021, police interviewed Post, and he surrendered his cell phone. On the cell phone, police found thousands of images and videos of child pornography, many of which depicted Parcell and AM nude together in provocative poses, tr., at 863-65. See also, R. _____ Post was arrested immediately. Police found more device(s), both at Post's home and at a storage locker at a cigar bar Post used, that contained nude photographs of Parcell and AM. These images revealed that Parcell and Post were abusing AM from at least January 1, 2018, through October 19, 2021, within the period Mello reported the abuse to the police, and Bevill failed to uncover it. Tr., at 864-65. Continuing on October 19th, Bevill immediately took steps to take AM into emergency protective custody (EPC) upon learning of these images: he sent another deputy to AM's home in the middle of the night to remove her from it.

On October 20, 2021, Bevill participated in a hearing before the Family Court to have AM taken into EPC, and the Family Court held that AM should be taken into EPC. Tr., at 866-

67. “[U]nder 63-7-620, . . . the law required that the law enforcement officer () establish probable cause that the child's life, health or physical safety is or was in substantial and imminent danger if the child was not taken into emergency protective custody.” (Emphasis added). Tr., at 866-67. Even though Parcell had been dead for seven days and Post was in jail, the Family Court still presumably found imminent danger on October 20, 2021.

Bevill also obtained numerous warrants for Post for sexual exploitation of a minor, criminal sexual conduct, and buggery. Tr., at 863-68, 167-69. The warrants were based on images like the following:

(Bevill) would testify that one of the images depicted Christina Parcell manipulating her daughter's private parts with her fingers. He would also testify that he believed that Brad Post was an active participant in this act due to the photo being taken in Brad Post's house and for other reasons.

Tr. at 867.

Pre-Trial Proceedings

Jury selection occurred and hearings on pretrial motions began on February 10, 2025. The parties thoroughly briefed, both before and during trial, issues they anticipated arising.⁴ “I have spent an inordinate amount of time not this morning but because I did have briefs previously, well-written briefs from defense and the State. So I just want it noted that I have thoroughly looked at everything, spent a lot of time on it.” Tr., at 831.

Prior to trial, the State sought to exclude all of the evidence of the child pornography police seized from Post's devices that depicted Parcell and AM and which clearly demonstrated that she was imminent danger. Defense counsel strongly urged the trial court to deny the State's request, at least until the trial had started and Hughes tried to introduce it.

⁴ The Court allowed the parties to submit, ex parte, pretrial briefs, and Zack's pretrial brief is enclosed at R _____. Zack's other filed briefs on pertinent pretrial motions and on the defense of others are enclosed at R _____.

[E]xtraordinary relief they are seeking. 16,000 or more images of child pornography. We have photographs. We have videos. They want Your Honor, without having seen any of it, without having it introduced at trial, any exhibits whatsoever, to categorically exclude 16,000 or more pieces of evidence that we may or may not seek to introduce. So they want Your Honor, again, to – from the bench, without any evidence introduced of any kind, without opening statements, with nothing, they want Your Honor to exclude that evidence. . . . But, Your Honor, to -- again, in a vacuum, to exclude this evidence before Your Honor's had a chance to review it, before it's even offered into evidence, I'm not even sure how you do the 403 analysis, right, because it's such a fact-intensive analysis.

Tr., at 99-100.

After hearing argument from the lawyers, the trial court granted the State's motion to exclude all child pornography evidence categorically and prevented Hughes from even attempting to introduce this evidence before the jury.

I've spent a considerable amount of time looking at case law, these excellent briefs that have been presented to me, your oral arguments. And I am going to grant the State's motion -- amended motion in limine, and I am going to exclude any reference to child pornography involving the victim, her juvenile daughter, I think it's (AM), or Bradly Post. So I'm going to be excluding that. And that also includes the cross-examination of Mr. Post. . . . I know that we've talked with counsel as far as your ability to do a proffer. . . .

Tr., at 121.⁵

As a corollary of the trial court's categorical ruling on the child pornography evidence, it also ruled that defense counsel could not cross-examine Post on which pending charges he had and the possible penalties he faced if convicted. Defense counsel argued, "the law in South Carolina is crystal clear that when a State's witness is cross-examined and he has pending charges, he can be asked about what those charges are and what the penalties are." Tr., at 106. The trial court disagreed, in part because the Attorney General's Office was prosecuting Post instead of the

⁵ The trial court offered to allow the parties to revisit the admissibility of the child pornography if it became "relevant," but immediately excluded it again for the purpose of cross-examination of Post. Tr., at 121-22. As this Court will see, the trial court made up its mind before the trial started: under no circumstances would the child pornography be admissible. No way, no how.

Solicitor's Office (even though both represented the same party, the State), and because Post's testimony was not inculpatory enough to warrant this type of vigorous cross-examination.

[T]he Attorney General's Office will handle this (Post's) trial, not the Greenville solicitor's office. He's not a cooperating witness. He's not providing any type of inculpatory, I guess, evidence linking the defendant to the crime. So they're not offering him in any way to -- like I said, to inculcate the defendant of any type of wrongdoing or indication of guilt.

Tr.. at 122.

The trial court then conducted an *in camera* hearing, pursuant to *State v. Lawrence*, to determine to which, if any questions, Post would assert his 5th Amendment right to remain silent. Post testified on direct examination, *inter alia*, that he supported Parcell in her custody battle with Mello, tr., at 137, and that he and/or Parcell told police in the Summer of 2021 that John Mello was the only person who had access to the nude photos of Parcell that Hughes mailed.⁶

During cross-examination, the following exchange took place between Post and defense counsel:

Defense Counsel: Isn't it true that you worked with Ms. Parcell to create and distribute child pornography?

State: Objection, Your Honor.

Post: No.

The Court: Sustained. It's part of the proffer.

Tr. at 176 (emphasis added).

When Post finished his testimony, defense counsel argued that the trial court should revisit its ruling excluding evidence of child pornography in light of Post's false and unequivocal denial of producing it.

⁶ These photographs formed the basis of the harassment offense(s), for which the State charged Zack and Mello and complimented the State's inculpatory theory of liability for Zack and Mello.

Your Honor, when he -- had he asserted the Fifth, that would be one thing. But he has affirmatively denied engaging in that activity which goes straight to his credibility because we have evidence to show the contrary. And it's our position that Mr. Post now has opened the door to being cross-examined on his working with Ms. Parcell for the purpose of producing, disseminating and possessing child pornography. . . . We're not calling Mr. Post. They've chosen to call him. So it's not like we're asking to call him just to get all this out. This is the State's witness. This is the State's witness which affirmatively made a representation that is untrue, that we have evidence to rebut.

Tr., at 178, 180. Further, defense counsel argued that the scope of Post's direct-examination went well beyond what the State represented it would be, which also opened the door to the child pornography. Tr., at 178-79. The trial court refused to revisit its ruling. "I'm not going back, and I'm not going to change my earlier ruling." Tr., at 180. See also n. 5, *supra* at p. 17.

The Trial

The State called Post early on in its case-in-chief. In one of its first questions, the State asked Post "have you been charged with a crime?" "Yes," he responded. Tr., at 213. State also asked Post questions about the custody dispute between Mello and Parcell, his financial and emotional support of Parcell during her attempts to bring AM back from Italy, when and how Post found Parcell's body on October 13, 2021, Post's receipt of nude photos of Parcell in the mail in the Summer of 2021, his and Parcell's meeting with Investigator Bevill about the mailers, and Mello's exclusive possession of the nude photos of Parcell in the mailers. Tr., at 213-29.

Defense counsel cross-examined Post, but, pursuant to the Court's order, was unable to ask Post any questions about the nature of his pending charges, the possible penalties they carried, or any questions about his false denial, during his pretrial testimony, of producing and distributing child pornography with Parcell.

Later in the State's case, the State called Investigator John Garrett with the GCSO. Garrett testified that while in Parcell's home on October 13th he seized "a white plastic bag with a white powder substance in the living room near the front door." Tr., at 257. The State then

showed Garrett State's exhibit 37, a photo of the bag with powder in the home, and State's exhibit 9, what the State claimed was the actual bag with the white powder. When it sought to introduce both into evidence, defense counsel objected to exhibit 9's introduction. "I don't think the full foundation has been laid --- has been completed for 9 in order to be entered into evidence," defense counsel said, and the trial court agreed. Tr., at 259.

Garrett testified that he field-tested the substance, and he later entered it into property and evidence at the Law Enforcement Center. Tr., at 260. Garrett never testified that he sealed the bag with powder prior to depositing it into property and evidence. The State then moved exhibit 9 into evidence again. Both at the time the State sought to introduce State's exhibit 9 and even now, no evidence exists in the record that shows who received the bag in property and evidence, who and how many people handled the bag in property and evidence and the condition of the bag when these people handled it. Defense counsel objected. "There hasn't been a full chain established yet throughout the continuation of where that evidence went. So until that happens, we would have an objection to it being entered." Tr., at 260. The trial court admitted the bag, State's exhibit 9, over defense counsel's objection. Tr., at 260.

Next, the State called Kristen McCall, forensic chemist, as an expert to opine on the identity of the substance in State's exhibit 9. McCall testified about her procedure for obtaining evidence for testing.

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