RECEIVED

Jun 22 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Honorable Patrick C. Fant, III, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-000367

THE STATE,RESPONDENT

v.

ZACHARY DAVID HUGHES,APPELLANT.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

P. SANDERS LINKER
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-0918

CYNTHIA SMITH CRICK
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

180 North Irby Street
Florence, SC 29501

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

here. *See id.* at 245–46, 741 S.E.2d at 705 (“We emphasize Appellant does not challenge the legitimate purposes served by Rules 401, 402, or 403, SCRE. Nor does Appellant contend any of those evidentiary rules in and of themselves arbitrarily restrict his right to testify. Rather, Appellant claims the trial court arbitrarily misapplied those rules, and in committing that error of law, the trial court unconstitutionally prevented Appellant from testifying during his own trial.”). What the court in *Rivera* essentially found is that the trial court had stretched the rules of evidence to find the defendant’s testimony irrelevant in a sort of paternalistic “desire to protect Appellant from himself.” *Id.* at 243–44, 741 S.E.2d at 703–704. Appellant offers little to no briefing on how the rules of evidence at issue here “serve no legitimate purpose” or how they are “disproportionate to the ends they are asserted to promote.” *Id.* at 245, 741 S.E.2d at 704–705 (quoting *Holmes*, 547 U.S. at 326). As such, he cannot show a violation of his fundamental right to testify.

And because any error in this context would not be fundamental and therefore non-structural, this issue is subject to a harmless error inquiry. *Compare id.* at 246, 741 S.E.2d at 705 (“Most trial errors, even those which violate a defendant’s constitutional rights, are subject to harmless-error analysis.” (citing *Arizona v. Fulminante*, 499 U.S. 279, 306–307 (1991)) *with id.* at 247, 741 S.E.2d at 705–706 (“The Supreme Court has found ‘an error to be structural, and thus subject to automatic reversal only in a very limited class of cases.’”) (cleaned up, citations omitted). Under the harmless error inquiry, preventing Appellant from testifying as to his ultimate rationale for killing Victim (i.e. to protect A.M. from future child abuse) would be harmless because such a rationale does not support any legally viable defense and would not negate the overwhelming evidence of guilt and malice.

This Court should affirm.

VI. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in holding Appellant in contempt for repeatedly attempting to testify to matters that were properly excluded by the trial court; and where Appellant had been repeatedly admonished by the trial court to not testify as to inadmissible evidence—yet Appellant continued to violate the court’s lawful order

Appellant argues the trial court abused its discretion when it held Appellant in contempt of court for repeatedly testifying to ongoing and past sexual abuse of A.M. by Victim and her fiancé Bradley Post. Specifically, he argues that because the trial court previously erred when it prevented Appellant from arguing the defense of others, prevented the elicitation of sexual abuse/CSAM evidence, or prevented Appellant from telling the jury why he killed Victim, his order finding Appellant in contempt was void as violative of the United States Constitution and Appellant was thus under no obligation to follow it. Respondent contends the opposite. The trial court made correct rulings on the evidentiary issues before it and Appellant was bound to heed its instructions to not testify to inadmissible evidence. And even assuming these rulings were in error or in violation of Appellant’s constitutional rights, Appellant was still bound to follow the lawful order of the court until he could challenge the adverse rulings on appeal. Appellant was given many chances to follow the court’s instructions but willfully chose to repeatedly violate them and disrespect the inherent authority of the trial court. This Court should affirm.

A. Relevant Facts

Appellant was put on notice regarding the trial court’s rulings on defenses and evidence through his attendance at his trial. *See* Relevant Facts, Arguments I, III–V. After testifying regarding his background, childhood, and his meeting of Mello and A.M., Appellant mentioned “concerns” Mello had told him about Victim, and then Appellant started to testify regarding his oldest adopted sibling, prompting an objection:

Mr. Wilkins: . . . the State objects to the next line of questioning with [Appellant] based on your prior ruling. [Appellant] just testified that he had grave concerns about . . .

The Court: My prior ruling concerning child pornography evidence.

Mr. Wilkins: Child pornography. Yes, sir. [Appellant] just testified that he had grave concerns from what John Mello told him, and he said in relation to those grave concerns, I have two siblings. And what he's going to testify to is about that his siblings were harmed and abused when they were younger children in Russia. And that is a backdoor way to get in through Your Honor's ruling to discuss the fact that . . . he didn't have knowledge of any child pornography, but . . . he's going to try to tell this jury that the reasons he had grave concerns is because of molestation or child pornography. . .

(Tr. 963, ln. 16—Tr. 964, ln. 18). The trial court accepted the State's argument that this was a backdoor attempt to discuss A.M.'s sexual abuse situation and sustained the objection. (Tr. 964—968). Appellant was allowed to discuss how his sister Grace was abusive and caused problems for his family. (Tr. 969—976).

Later, after discussing a family court deposition of Victim that Mello had given him, Appellant was asked about what information Mello had shared with him regarding Mello's interactions with Investigator Dan Bevill, prompting another objection that Appellant was attempting to "backdoor" into Dan Bevill's investigation of allegations of sexual abuse. The trial court questioned what the relevance of this line of questioning was and sustained the objection. (Tr. 989—991). With the jury back in the courtroom, Appellant's direct examination continued:

Q. So, Zack, you've testified about information that John has provided you relating to concerns he had about . . . Christina Parcell, especially in conjunction with [A.M.]. We talked about the time period of April. I want to move to May. In May of 2021, were you and John Mello continuing to communicate about the situation?

A. Yes.

Q. In May of 2021, what, if anything, did John ask you to do for him?

A. Given the extremely grave nature of John's concerns for his daughter, especially while she was in the custody of her mother, Christina Parcell, *and potentially being*

exposed to her mother's boyfriend, Brad Post, who John believed was a pedophile and is a pedophile.

Mr. Wilkins: Objection.

The Court: *Sustained. I instruct you to totally disregard the last comments made by the defendant.*

(Tr. 992, ll. 5–23) (emphasis added). Appellant continued to testify regarding Mello's cash offers to kill Victim, also adding: "[h]e was becoming increasingly more worried and distressed about the safety of his daughter. I was as well. The more I learned about the situation and everything *and a lot more than what I've told you, I was also . . .*", prompting another objection that was sustained. (Tr. 993–994) (emphasis added). Appellant continued to testify regarding his visit to Mello in Italy and preparing/sending the mailers to harass Victim and Post. (Tr. 994–1002).

In discussing his fictitious family court affidavit and phone call to CPS alleging personal knowledge of abuse, Appellant noted:

So I told them that I had seen [A.M.] being verbally and physically abused by her mother. And, again, I made that up. That's not true. But I said it because I wanted to give [A.M.] an opportunity to have face time in person with an agent from DSS away from her mother *where she could tell them that her mother was sexually abusing her.*

This prompted another objection that was sustained, and the Court instructed the jury to disregard the comments. (Tr. 1004–1005). Later, Appellant was questioned regarding his state of mind as of October 2021, prompting the following exchange:

A. I was still in the middle of this music project so I had a lot on my plate there just professionally. And, of course, I was continuing . . . increasing my support to help John save his daughter [A.M.]. And since June when I had returned, *I had absolutely been convinced that Christina Parcell was sexually abusing her daughter.*

Mr. Wilkins: Your Honor, let's go. I mean . . .

The Court: Take the jury out.

...

Mr. Moorman, *you said that you had your client under control and I had specifically excluded any reference to that and that has done this twice.*

Mr. Moorman: And, Your Honor, so let me say what I said was he's aware of my instructions, Your Honor's instructions. I'm not going to ask him questions that are designed to elicit information that I believe is inadmissible. And I stand by that, Your Honor. I've asked him questions that go to his state of mind which I believe is very important for the purpose of malice, of all the intent elements in all these offenses. I'm not asking him questions specifically that go into sexual abuse. I just, truthfully, the posture we're in right now, Judge, it's important that he convey to the jury what's on his mind. I'm asking those questions. . . .

The Court: *It's in direct violation of my order.*

(Tr. 1007, ln. 8—Tr. 1008, ln. 8) (emphasis added). The solicitor noted that Appellant knew exactly what the court's instructions were yet continued to violate them. (Tr. 1008–1009). After a break, the Court instructed Appellant:

The Court: Mr. Hughes, I stated this to you earlier, but do you understand that you are not supposed to reference anything concerning child pornography or sexual abuse for the remainder of your testimony? Do you understand that, sir?

[Appellant]: *I understand.*

The Court: And you can abide by that instruction[?]

[Appellant]: *I will do my best, Your Honor.*

The Court: Not do my best. *You need to abide by that instruction.*

[Appellant]: Your Honor, I put my hand on the Bible and made an oath to tell the whole truth. I'm a little confused.

...

Mr. Wilkins: Your Honor, *he is refusing to abide by your order.*

...

The Court: If there is a subsequent violation . . . and you've heard my instruction, Mr. Hughes? Do you understand?

[Appellant]: *I understand your instruction, Your Honor.*

The Court: If there's a subsequent violation, then we will discuss how to proceed at that juncture.

(Tr. 1010, ln. 14—Tr. 1011, ln. 19) (emphasis added). Thereafter, the Court gave the jury a curative instruction requested by the State. (Tr. 1012–1013).

Appellant was asked if he killed Victim on October 13. He stated yes, adding that he believed it was “absolutely necessary” to save A.M., prompting another sustained objection. (Tr. 1015). After describing in great detail the steps leading up to the murder and the brutal murder itself, Appellant stated: “. . . as I left the house, I felt the most enormous wave of relief wash over me because I knew from that moment on, . . . [A.M.] *would be safe from the sexual abuse that her mother was perpetrating on her, and there is proof to that that the State is hiding from you.*” (Tr. 1031, ll. 15–25) (emphasis added). The solicitor objected, the Court excused the jury, and Appellant was instructed to stop talking. The solicitor asked the Court to prohibit Appellant from continuing his testimony or to alternatively hold him in contempt before the jury, noting that he had been warned three times by this point and yet continued to violate the Court's orders. (Tr. 1032–1033).

After an hour-long break, the Court held Appellant in contempt and sentenced him to six months imprisonment. (Tr. 1036).

B. Discussion

“Contempt results from the willful disobedience of an order of the court.” *Miller v. Miller*, 375 S.C. 443, 454, 652 S.E.2d 754, 759 (Ct. App. 2007) (quoting *Bigham v. Bigham*, 264 S.C. 101, 104, 212 S.E.2d 594, 596 (1975)); *see also* S.C. Code Ann. § 14-5-320 (“The circuit court may punish by fine or imprisonment, at the discretion of the court, all contempts of authority in any cause or hearing before the same.”). “A willful act is one which is ‘done voluntarily and

intentionally with the specific intent to do something the law forbids, or with the specific intent to fail to do something the law requires to be done; that is to say, with bad purpose either to disobey or disregard the law.” *Widman v. Widman*, 348 S.C. 97, 119, 557 S.E.2d 693, 705 (Ct. App. 2001) (quoting *Spartanburg Cnty Dep’t of Soc. Servs. v. Padgett*, 296 S.C. 79, 82–83, 370 S.E.2d 872, 874 (1988)). “[C]ourts have the inherent power to punish for offenses that are calculated to obstruct, degrade, and undermine the administration of justice.” *Id.* at 455, 652 S.E.2d at 760 (quoting *Brandt v. Gooding*, 368 S.C. 618, 628, 630 S.E.2d, 259, 264 (2006)). “The primary purposes of criminal contempt are to preserve the court’s authority and to punish for disobedience of its orders.” *Id.* at 456, 652 S.E.2d at 761 (quoting *Floyd v. Floyd*, 365 S.C. 56, 75, 615 S.E.2d 465, 475 (Ct. App. 2005)). “In a criminal contempt proceeding, the burden of proof is beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Id.* at 457, 652 S.E.2d at 761. “Intent for purposes of criminal contempt is subjective, not objective, and must necessarily be ascertained from all the acts, words, and circumstances surrounding the occurrence.” *Id.*

“Direct contempt is defined as contemptuous conduct occurring in the presence of the court.” *State v. Kennerly*, 331 S.C. 442, 450, 503 S.E.2d 214, 219 (Ct. App. 1998). “Direct contempt that occurs in the court’s presence may be immediately adjudged and sanctioned summarily.” *Brandt*, 368 S.C. at 628, 630 S.E.2d at 264. Notably, a party may not be held in contempt for violation of a void order. *Arnal v. Fraser*, 371 S.C. 512, 522, 641 S.E.2d 419, 424 (2007). But only a narrow class of orders can be considered void—the most common examples from case law being orders/decrees in family court matters where our appellate courts determined family courts operated outside their subject matter jurisdiction. *Compare id.* at 517–22, 641 S.E.2d at 422–25 (family court’s contempt findings void based on order made while appeal was pending since appellate court had sole jurisdiction for matters on appeal); *Kosciusko v. Parham*, 428 S.C.

481, 505, 836 S.E.2d 362, 375 (Ct. App. 2019) (family court lacked jurisdiction to enforce arbitration order/awards through contempt proceedings); *Long v. McMillan*, 226 S.C. 598, 86 S.E.2d 477 (1955) (circuit court lacked capacity to initiate contempt proceedings based on violation of verbal, in chambers order issued after underlying general sessions case was already disposed), with *State ex rel. McLeod v. Holcomb*, 245 S.C. 63, 65–69, 138 S.E.2d 707, 707–709 (1964) (circuit court had jurisdiction to find dentist working without license in contempt of injunction prohibiting the same).

In this case, the record overwhelmingly supports the trial court’s finding of direct contempt. Appellant was given multiple opportunities to course-correct and yet continued to flaunt the trial court’s specific and direct limitations on his testimony. When directly admonished by the trial court, Appellant essentially equivocated as to whether he could/would continue to follow the trial court’s orders and was warned what would happen if he continued to testify inappropriately. Construing the Court’s rulings more broadly, Appellant likely violated them about five times. Even construing the Court’s rulings narrowly, Appellant violated them three times. In allowing Appellant essentially three strikes, the trial court exhibited exceptional patience and prudence before being left no choice but to hold Appellant in contempt. Otherwise, the trial court would have essentially abdicated its essential role of umpire. Appellant’s direct contempt before the Court thus made him liable to summary judgment, sanction, and punishment by the trial court. *Kennerly*, 331 S.C. at 450, 503 S.E.2d at 219; *Brandt*, 368 S.C. at 628, 630 S.E.2d at 264. Appellant can show no abuse of discretion in arguing otherwise.

Further, Appellant offers no briefing as to how or why the trial court’s evidentiary rulings were *void*, other than relying on prior arguments that the rulings were incorrect as a matter of evidentiary law, or a cursory citation to a case from another jurisdiction. But an error in an

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